THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

R. Michael Campbell, III, Commissioner

Appellate Case No. 2020-000481
W.C.C. File No. 1205924

Opinion No. 5703
Heard April 1, 2019 – Filed December 31, 2019

RECEIVED
NOV 19 2020
S.C. SUPREME COURT

David B. Lemon, Employee/Claimant,.....Respondent,

v.

Mt. Pleasant Waterworks, Employer, and State Accident Fund, Carrier,.....Petitioners.

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONERS

Kirsten Leslie Barr
Trask & Howell, L.L.C.
P.O. Box 2167
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465
(843) 881-1027
kbarr@trask-howell.com
Attorneys for the Petitioners

Questions Presented

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law by ignoring the fact that Lemon stipulated that the Petitioners are entitled to a credit for his prior back claim?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law by concluding that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170 is “inapplicable” to Lemon’s claim?
- III. Does the ruling of the Court of Appeals contradict the holding of *Medlin v. Greenville County*?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in construing S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170 so as to create an exception to the 500 week maximum mandated by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals misconstrue the benefit provided by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(A) and the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s discretionary authority thereunder to produce an absurd result not intended by the Legislature?

Statement of the Case

The Respondent, David B. Lemon, was employed by the Petitioner, Mount Pleasant Waterworks, and sustained permanent injuries to his back and shoulders by accidents arising out of and in the course of this employment in 2009, 2010, and 2011. On May 8, 2012, Lemon sustained another “permanent injury to his back,” which affected both legs in an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment. (A. p.77 #4; p.78 #12). The Workers’ Compensation Commission concluded that Lemon is

permanently and totally disabled under the general disability statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10.

In accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 and S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B), the Commission awarded Lemon 179 weeks of additional total disability compensation. Section 42-9-10 strictly limits disability compensation to 500 weeks in all cases, with the sole exception of paraplegia, quadriplegia, or physical brain damage, which are inapplicable here, and § 42-9-170 reaffirms that strict limit. Because Lemon had already received 199 weeks of disability compensation in his four prior claims, as well as 122 weeks of disability compensation for the 2012 claim, the award of 179 additional weeks resulted in Lemon's aggregate disability compensation for his successive injuries totaling the maximum 500 week limit mandated by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 and reaffirmed in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170. Lemon appealed, arguing that the statutory 500 week maximum does not apply to him.

By Order filed December 31, 2019, the Court of Appeals reversed the Commission and concluded that the statutory 500 week maximum was offset only by the 122 weeks of temporary benefits previously paid in the 2012 claim, ostensibly due to a "strict construction" of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B). The Petitioners respectfully contend that the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law in their application and construction of § 42-9-170(B) and by ignoring the plain meaning of statutory terms of art contained therein, specifically the terms "injury" and "compensation" and "disability." More importantly, the decision of the the Court of Appeals directly contravenes the Supreme Court's holding in Medlin v. Greenville County, which applies irrespective of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) and limits benefits to 500 weeks even in cases of successive injuries. The Court of Appeals otherwise misconstrued the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-

9-10 and the Claimant's own stipulation that the Respondents were entitled to "a credit for 20.5714 weeks due to a prior back claim" (A. p.4) in reaching what appears to be an admittedly absurd result.

Therefore, the Petitioners respectfully request that the Supreme Court reverse the Order of the Court of Appeals dated December 31, 2019 and affirm the unanimous Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission in accordance with undisputed evidence in the record and the applicable law.

Arguments

I. Lemon stipulated that the Petitioners are entitled to a credit for his prior back claim; however, the Court of Appeals ignored this fact.

According to the Workers' Compensation Commission's January 7, 2015 Order, Lemon

"asserts that Defendant is entitled to only a credit for 20.5714 weeks due to a prior back claim with the Employer." (A. p.4) (emphasis added).

This stipulation was not (and could not be) properly challenged on appeal and is the law of the case. (A. pp.25-29). See Reeves v. S.C. Mun. Ins. & Risk Fin. Fund, 427 S.C. 613, 641-42, 832 S.E.2d 312, 327 (Ct. App. 2019), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 19, 2019) (holding that a court must construe a stipulation like a contract that will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion).

A "stipulation" is defined as "an agreement, admission or concession made in judicial proceedings by the parties thereto or their attorneys." Kirkland v. Allcraft Steel

Co., 329 S.C. 389, 392, 496 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1998) (citations omitted). Certainly, an assertion against one's interest made at a hearing before a Workers' Compensation Commissioner by one's own attorney on the record is properly considered an "admission" or "concession" and thus a "stipulation."

"Stipulations, of course, are binding upon those who make them." Id. Because counsel for Lemon admitted that any award should be offset "for 20.5714 weeks due to a prior back claim," the Court of Appeals erred in failing to regard this fact as being conclusively proved. *See* BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1415 (6th Ed. 1990) (defining a stipulation as a "[v]oluntary agreement between opposing counsel concerning disposition of some relevant point so as to obviate need for proof or to narrow range of litigable issues."); *See also*, Kirkland, *supra* (holding that once a concession is made, it is binding and must be affirmed on appeal).

However, the Court of Appeals concluded that Lemon's total disability award should not be offset by disability benefits he received in prior claims -- including the compensation paid as a result of a 2011 back injury that was settled only 11 days prior to the present claim --despite Lemon's own stipulation to the contrary. (A. p.133). Clearly, the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law in ignoring this stipulation, as the stipulation is not mentioned in the Court's decision, nor factored into its analysis, nor is there any purported justification for nullifying the binding effect of this stipulation. Therefore, the Petitioners respectfully request reversal of the decision of the Court of Appeals by the Supreme Court and affirmation of the Workers' Compensation Commission, to include a credit for 20.5714 weeks as previously stipulated by Lemon.

II. The Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law by concluding that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170 is “inapplicable” to Lemon’s claim.

The Court of Appeals purportedly applied a “strict construction” of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170(B)¹ to reach its conclusion that § 42-1-170(B) is “inapplicable” in the present case and that; therefore, the 500 week maximum prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 does not apply to Lemon. This is plain error. Section 42-9-170(B) applies to the case *sub judice* as a matter of law. Furthermore, § 42-1-170(B) is not an exception to the 500 week maximum prescribed by § 42-9-10 and does authorize any award in excess of 500 weeks. According to the plain meaning of its statutorily-defined terms, § 42-9-170(B) governs the payment of compensation in all claims where there are successive permanent injuries in the same employment, prohibits an increase in weekly compensation in successive claims, and extends the period of compensation subject to § 42-9-10’s universal 500 week maximum.

A. Application of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B)

The first sentence of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) provides:

“If an employee receives a permanent injury as specified in section 42-9-30 or section 42-9-10(B) after having sustained another permanent injury in the same employment, he is entitled to compensation for both injuries, but the total compensation must be paid by extending the period and not

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(A) was effective until June 30, 2008 and S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) applies to injuries after July 1, 2008.

by increasing the amount of weekly compensation and in no case exceeding 500 weeks.”

Therefore, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) applies to the case *sub judice* because Lemon (1) sustained an “injury” as a result of the May 8, 2012 accident that is both (2) “permanent” and (3) specified in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 and (4) after sustaining “another permanent injury in the same employment.”

1. “Injury”

Clearly Lemon sustained an “injury” on May 8, 2012, as defined by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act, specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160. That statute defines the term “injury” to mean “injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment.” Because it is generally recognized that “identical words and phrases within the same statute should normally be given the same meaning,” the term “injury” in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170 also means “injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment.”² Not only do both Lemon and the Petitioners agree that

²See Travelscape, LLC v. South Carolina Dep’t. of Revenue, 391 S.C. 89, 100, 705 S.E.2d 28, 34 (2011) (quoting Powerex Corp. v. Reliant Energy Serv., Inc., 441 U.S. 224, 232, 127 S.Ct. 2411, 2417, 168 L.Ed.2d 112 (2007)); see also Busby v. State Farm, 280 S.C. 330, 333, 212 S.E.2d 716, 718 (Ct. App. 1984) (citing Pampanga Sugar Mills v. Trinidad, 279 U.S. 211, 218, 49 S.Ct. 308, 310, 73 L.Ed. 665 (1929) for the proposition that “[w]here the same word is use more than once in a statute it is presumed to have the same meaning throughout.”); see also Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (holding that “[w]here the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and

Lemon sustained an “injury” on May 8, 2012 as defined by the Act, the parties agree that this “injury” involved his back and both legs. Therefore, the first element of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) is satisfied as a matter of law.

2. “Permanent”

Furthermore, the Commission concluded that these back and leg injuries were “permanent” by specifically finding

“[t]he Claimant has sustained permanent injuries to more than one body part, namely, his back and both legs.” (A. p.13 #1) (emphasis added).

This finding is unappealed and is, therefore, the law of the case. ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (unappealed ruling is law of the case); Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159,161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970) (an unchallenged ruling, “right or wrong, is the law of this case and requires affirmance.”). Therefore, the second element of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) is satisfied as a matter of law.

3. “Specified” in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30

In addition, it is undisputed that both the “back” and “leg” injury are of the type of injury “specified” in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30. As noted above, the fact that Lemon

conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.”).

sustained “permanent injuries to ... his back and both legs” is the law of the case. (A. p.13 #1). In addition, the “leg” is an injury specified under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(16) and the “back” is specified under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30(21). Therefore, the third element of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) is satisfied as a matter of law.

4. Successive injuries

The law similarly compels an affirmative answer the fourth question -- whether the May 8, 2012 injuries were “receive[d]...after having sustained another permanent injury in the same employment” -- because Lemon admittedly sustained successive injuries by accidents arising out of and in the course of his employment with Mount Pleasant Waterworks, involving his shoulder in 2010 and 2011 and his back in 2009 and 2011, resulting in the payment of permanent disability benefits. The fact that these four prior claims resulted in “permanent injury” is undisputed, as Lemon admits that “the awards that he had received for prior unrelated injuries” was “pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30.” (*See* A. 154, ¶1). Therefore, the fourth and final element of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) is satisfied as a matter of law.

Because Lemon sustained “a permanent injury as specified in section 42-9-30” (*i.e.*, injuries to his back and legs, which are scheduled body members) “after having sustained another permanent injury in the same employment” (involving his back and shoulders in 2009, 2010, and 2011), S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) clearly applies and the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law in concluding otherwise. Therefore, in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B), Lemon “is entitled to compensation for both injuries, but the total compensation must be paid by extending the period and not

by increasing the amount of weekly compensation and in no case exceeding 500 weeks” as mandated by the clear and unequivocal language of that statute.

B. Construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B)

Despite the undisputed facts and the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B), the Court of Appeals inexplicably concluded that “§ 42-9-170 applies only to § 42-9-10(B) awards.” (A. p.69) (emphasis added). However, § 42-9-170(B) does not employ the term “award” whatsoever and plainly requires something altogether different:

“an injury as specified in Section 42-9-30 or the second paragraph of Section 42-9-10” (emphasis added).

The terms “injury” and “award” are not synonymous, but wholly distinct concepts statutorily-defined by separate statutes. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (titled “Injury and ‘personal injury’ defined”) and § 42-17-40 (titled “Conduct of hearing; award”). Therefore, the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law by redefining a statutory term of art, “injury,” and forcing an interpretation contrary to the plain language of the statute that defines it. *See Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000); *see also Grazia v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 390 S.C. 562, 569, 703 S.E.2d 197, 200 (2010) (holding that the Court should not resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand a statute's operation when interpreting the plain meaning of a statute).

Had the Legislature intended for S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170 to apply only to certain types of “awards,” the Legislature would have employed the term “award.”

Instead, the Legislature employed the term “injury.” Because the meaning of the term “injury” is, in the words of our Supreme Court, “plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning...the Court has no right to impose another meaning.” Vaughn v. Bernhardt, 345 S.C. 196, 198, 547 S.E.2d 869, 870 (2001) (citing Hodges v. Rainey, *supra*); see also Municipal Ass’n of South Carolina v. AT&T Communications of S. States, Inc., 361 S.C. 576, 580, 606 S.E.2d 468, 470 (2004) (holding that words of a statute “must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation” and citing Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992)).

Furthermore, it is well-settled that a “word or phrase is presumed to bear the same meaning throughout a text; a material variation in terms suggests a variation in meaning.” Travelscape, LLC v. South Carolina Dep’t. of Revenue, 391 S.C. 89, 100, 705 S.E.2d 28, 34 (2011) (“As a general rule, ‘identical words and phrases within the same statute should normally be given the same meaning.’”). Here, the term “injury” is employed in the first sentence of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) and “disability”³ in the second sentence (in the context of limiting an employee’s access to the general disability statute):

³ S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-120 defines the term “disability” as “incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury.” Awards of benefits for varying types of “disability” are provided by S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-9-10, 42-9-20, and 42-9-30. See Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003). However, in none of these statutes is the term “disability” synonymous with the term “injury.”

“If an employee has previously incurred permanent partial *disability* through the loss of a hand, arm, shoulder, foot, leg, hip or eye, and by subsequent accident incurs total permanent *disability* through the loss of another member, the employer’s liability is for the subsequent injury only, except that the employee may receive further benefits as provided under the provisions of section 42-9-35.” (emphasis added).

Use of the term “injury” in the first sentence of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170(B) and “disability” in the second sentence constitutes a material variation by which the Legislature implied a clear variation in meaning. Travelscape, *supra*. Had the Legislature intended for S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170(B) to apply only to certain *awards of disability*, it would have utilized the term in the first sentence, as it did second.

Additionally, the title of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170 is itself instructive, as it also employs the term “injury” and not “award.” The title reads,

“Permanent injury after sustaining another permanent injury in the same employment; entitlement to compensation; extension of payment.”
(emphasis added).

If the Legislature had intended the S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170(B) to apply to certain classes of *awards*, as opposed to certain classes of *injuries*, the Legislature would have actually employed the term *award* in the first sentence of the statute, as well at the statute’s title. Having chosen to use the statutorily defined term “injury,” the Court should have interpreted the statute as enacted and defined its requirements according to

its explicit terms, including the term “injury” employed in the title. As noted by the Supreme Court in Beaufort County v. South Carolina State Election Comm’n, 395 S.C. 366, 373 n. 2, 718 S.E.2d 432, 436 n. 2 (2011), a statute’s title is an indicator of meaning and, here, it indicates that the Court of Appeals has misconstrued the statute.

Regardless, whether or not S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170 applies is irrelevant, as Lemon’s entitlement to benefits, and the 500 week limitation thereon, stems from the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10, as explained in Medlin v. Greenville County. As such, the Respondents respectfully request that the Supreme Court reverse the Court of Appeals and affirm the Workers’ Compensation Commission’s calculation of Lemon’s award.

III. The ruling of the Court of Appeals contradicts the holding of Medlin v. Greenville County.

The Workers’ Compensation Commission correctly awarded Lemon the balance of 500 weeks (179 weeks) under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 because Lemon is *not* “entitled to compensation for both injuries” under Title 42 and the 500 week maximum mandated by § 42-9-10 is not a “per accident” limitation, according to the Supreme Court’s holding in Medlin v. Greenville Co., 303 S.C. 484, 488, 401 S.E.2d 667, 669 (1991). Because the decision of the Court of Appeals directly contradicts this precedent established in Medlin, the Supreme Court should reverse.⁴

⁴ In his brief to the Court of Appeals, Lemon raised no argument with respect to the applicability of Medlin. (A. pp.140–158). See Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (stating “[o]rdinarily, no point will be considered on appeal which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal”). Because Lemon failed to preserve this issue for

In Medlin, the employee had a previous injury while working for Greenville County that resulted in a compromise settlement (just as Lemon has received compromise settlements for his four prior claims against Mount Pleasant Waterworks). Medlin then suffered another injury working for Greenville County and filed a claim seeking payment of permanent and total disability compensation (just as Lemon has done). The Commission awarded Medlin an additional 500 weeks, contending that the 500 week limitation in S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 “was a per accident limitation.” The Circuit Court affirmed the Commission, “holding that the five hundred week limitation was a per accident limitation.” The Court of Appeals expressly reversed this conclusion.

In reversing the “per accident limitation” construct, the Court of Appeals in Medlin reasoned that, having “already received an award of five hundred weeks compensation from his first injury, [the employee] had no basis to recover in the second accident.” However, this decision by the Court of Appeals was premised on an interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-170. While the Supreme Court agreed with reasoning of the Court of Appeals, the Medlin Supreme Court concluded that

“Section 42-9-170 is not applicable to this case as here, employee was not drawing compensation for his 1983 injury at the time his second injury occurred.” 303 S.C. 484, 488, 401 S.E.2d 667, 669(1991).

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