RECEIVED

Dec 16 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL

R. Michael Campbell, III, Commissioner

Appellate Case Number 2020-000481
W.C.C. 1205924

Opinion No. 5703
Heard April 1, 2019 - Filed December 31, 2019

David B. Lemon, Employee/Claimant,.....Respondent,

-vs.-

Mt. Pleasant Waterworks, Employer, and
State Accident Fund, Carrier,.....Petitioners.

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Carl H. Jacobson, Bar # 2942
Uricchio, Howe & Krell, P.A.
Post Office Box 399
Charleston, SC 29402-0399
(843) 723-7491
Carl@uricchio.com
Attorney for the Respondent

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

Argument

The S.C. Workers’ Compensation Commission erred, as a matter of law, by reducing the Claimant’s award for permanent and total disability by awards he had received for unrelated prior claims when there was no statutory or common law basis to do so.

On May 9, 2016, the Single Commissioner awarded the Claimant permanent and total disability benefits pursuant to S.C. Code §42-9-10(A). (A. p. 79). This disability award has never

been disputed by the Petitioners.

On appeal from the Single Commissioner's remand order, the Appellate Panel specifically found that the award for permanent and total disability benefits was pursuant to S.C. Code §42-9-10(A). (A. p. 118, Finding of Fact 2). The Panel also concluded as a matter of law:

“Pursuant to Section 42-9-10(A) the Claimant is permanently and totally disabled based upon age, education level, ongoing complaints, medications, restrictions, limitations, and inability to identify work that he could complete, considering his condition.” (A. p. 120, Conclusion of Law 1).

The Offset For §42-9-10(A) Applies

The Respondent maintains that the only limitation on the number of weeks he can receive for permanent and total disability benefits for the subject claim is 500 weeks pursuant to S.C. Code §42-9-10(A). As such, the Respondent also concedes that the Petitioners are entitled to a credit for the weeks of temporary total disability benefits that have been paid to the Claimant for the injury resulting from the subject accident.

S.C. Code §42-9-10(A) provides that “when the incapacity for work resulting for an **injury** is total, the employer shall pay...to the injured employee...a weekly compensation...in no case may the period covered by the compensation exceed 500 weeks.”

S.C. Code §42-1-160 provides “**injury**” and “personal injury meaning only injury by **accident** arising out of and in the course of employment.”

Based upon the above, it is submitted that the cap of 500 weeks only applies to an injury arising from an accident; one accident, not multiple accidents. In the present case, the injury sustained by the Claimant from his accident of May 8, 2012 can only result in the maximum award of 500 weeks, inclusive of any weeks paid for temporary total disability benefits. As such, the Claimant does not dispute the credit awarded by the Single Commissioner with respect to the prior weeks that had been paid for temporary total disability benefits relating to the subject accident.

“Under South Carolina workers compensation law, a claimant is entitled to compensation for a total disability resulting from a work-related injury. S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-10 (1985 and

Supp. 1995). The term “disability” is defined as “incapacity because of injury to earn the wages that the employee was receiving at the time of the injury in the same or any other employment.” *Orr v. Elastomeric Products*, 323 S.C. 342, 474 S.E.2d 448 (Ct. App. 1996).

In *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003), the Supreme Court distinguished between the “two competing models” of workers’ compensation. “The first, the economic model, defines disability and incapacity in terms of the claimant’s loss of earning capacity as a result of the injury. The second, the medical model, provides awards for disability based upon degrees of medical impairment to specified body parts.” *Supra*, at 104.

The Court went on to state that “South Carolina provides three methods to obtain disability compensation: 1) total disability under S.C. Code Ann §42-9-10; 2) partial disability under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-20; and 3) scheduled disability under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-30. The first two methods are premised on the economic model, in most instances, while the third method conclusively relies upon the medical model with its presumption of lost earning capacity.” *Supra*, at 105.¹

Significantly, in the present case, the award for permanent total disability was pursuant to §42-9-10(A). Such an injury, which is not a §42-9-30 scheduled injury, causes sufficient loss of earning capacity to render an injured employee totally disabled. An example cited by the Court is one in which an employee experiences a double hernia after being injured while at work. In *Coleman v. Quality Concrete Products, Inc.*, 245 S.C. 625, 142 S.E.2d 403 (1965), “the Claimant established the double hernia, coupled with a lack of education or adequate job training, made him unable to find comparable, stable employment. The injury, combined with those other factors, diminished his earning capacity to such an extent as to entitle him to total disability.” *Wigfall*, at 105-106.

Thus, the Respondent reiterates that since the finding of permanent total disability benefits in the present case was pursuant to Code §42-9-10(A), then the medical impairment model of disability consistent with §42-9-30 does not apply. Nor does disability based upon S.C.

¹Another manner in which an injured employee may be deemed to be entitled to permanent and total disability benefits is pursuant to §42-9-10(B), that does not apply in the present case. This loss of earning capacity is like a scheduled loss in §42-9-30, conclusively presumed based upon “the loss of both hands, arms, shoulders, feet, legs, hips, or vision in both eyes, or any two there of.” See, footnote 4, *Wigfall*, at 118

Code §42-9-10(B) apply.

The Offset For S.C. Code § 42-9-170 Does Not Apply

Although the Respondent takes no issue with the Commission's crediting the Petitioners for the payment of temporary total disability compensation for the subject claim, the Respondent vehemently opposes the offset that was given to the Petitioners for the awards that he had received for the prior unrelated injuries pursuant to S.C. Code § 42-9-30. Additionally, the specific code section the Commission has relied on as a basis for such an offset, S.C. Code § 42-9-170, does not apply.

S.C. Code §42-9-170(B)² states:

If an employee receives a permanent injury as **specified in Section 42-9-30 or Section 42-9-10(B)** after having sustained another permanent injury in the same employment, he is entitled to compensation for both injuries, but the total compensation must be paid by extending the period and not by increasing the amount of weekly compensation, and in no case exceeding five hundred weeks. If an employee previously has incurred permanent partial disability through the loss of a hand, arm, shoulder, foot, leg, hip, or eye and by subsequent accident incurs total permanent disability **through the loss of another member**, the employer's liability is for the subsequent injury only, except that the employee may receive further benefits as provided under the provisions of Section 42-9-35. This subsection is effective on July 1, 2008. (Emphasis added)

It is well settled that the Workers' Compensation Act is an Act that is created by statute. Therefore, it is also well recognized that the law that is applicable to the Act and the Commission's authority to render decisions and orders are derived from the plain reading from the statutes contained in the Act. "Workers' compensation is a creature of statute. As such, we are bound to strictly construe the terms of the statute." *Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 436, 581 S.E.2d 836,(2003). "Workers' compensation statutes provide an exclusive compensatory system

²S.C. Code Section 42-9-170(A) does not apply because it was only effective until June 30, 2008.

in derogation of common law rights. *See, Caughman v. Columbia YMCA*, 212 S.C. 337, 47 S.E.2d 788 (1948). As such, when reading a workers' compensation statute we strictly construe its terms, leaving it to the Legislature to amend and define its ambiguities." *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003).

As to the general construction of the Workers Compensation Act, workers' compensation pays an employee benefits for damages resulting from personal injury or death by accident arising out of and in the course of the employment. (S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-310). In determining whether a work-related injury is compensable, the Workers' Compensation Act (Act) is liberally construed toward the end of providing coverage rather than denying coverage in order to further the beneficial purposes for which it was designed. *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty*, 341 S.C. 448, 535 S.E.2d 438 (2000) (citation omitted). Any reasonable doubt as to the construction of the Act will be resolved in favor of coverage. *Mauldin v. Dyna-Color/Jack Rabbit*, 308 S.C. 18, 22, 416 S.E.2d 639, 641 (1992).

The primary issue on appeal is whether the Petitioners are entitled to an offset for payments of prior awards to the Claimant. In order to credit the Employer for any payments from prior awards, it would have to be specifically authorized pursuant to §42-9-170(B) or specific case law.

The above Code Section specifically states that "if an employee received a permanent injury as specified in §42-9-30 or §42-9-10(B) after having sustained another permanent injury in the same employment, he is entitled to compensation for both injuries...and in no case exceeding 500 weeks."

The clear reading of the statute is that this code section **only applies** if the Employee received an award for permanent injury as specified in §42-9-30 or §42-9-10(B). In the present case, since the Commission determined that the award was pursuant to §42-9-10(A) and not §42-9-10(B) [and certainly not §42-9-30], §42-9-170(B) simply does not apply.

The Commission then cites the second sentence of §42-9-170(B) as support for the credit for the prior awards. To do so would torture the plain meaning of the statute. The second sentence of this subsection does not apply because this provision **only applies** when a Claimant sustains total permanent disability by a subsequent accident through the **loss of another**

member. In this case the Claimant's award for permanent total disability was not based upon a loss of another member pursuant to Code §42-9-30. To the contrary, the award was pursuant to §42-9-10(A)³. There is absolutely no reference to S.C. Code §42-9-10(A) in Code §42-9-170(B). Its omission from the triggering statutes is significant.

The Commission also cites various cases as common law support for the offset attributable to the prior awards. However, most, if not all of, the cited cases precede the 2007 amendment to S.C. Code §42-9-170. As such, they do not apply in the present case. Lastly, none of the cases are on point to the specific issue presented in this appeal.

Medlin v. Greenville County, 303 S.C. 484, 401 S.E.2d 667 (1990), has no application to the present case. In *Medlin*, the employee sustained a back injury and was awarded more than 50% loss of use of his back pursuant to §42-9-30 and was therefore awarded permanent total disability. The employee then returned to the same employer and received a subsequent back injury. The Court found that since the Claimant had already received an award for permanent total disability due to his back injury, he could not receive the additional compensation because of the limitation of §42-9-10. The *Medlin* Court specifically held that §42-9-170 did not apply in the *Medlin* case.

Arguments in Response to Petitioners' Arguments

I. Claimant did not stipulate the Petitioners were entitled to a credit for his prior back claim and the Court of Appeals did not ignore this fact. The Court of Appeals could not "ignore" an issue that had not been raised below.

For the first time raised during the appellate process in this case, the Petitioners now argue the Respondent stipulated Petitioners were entitled to a credit for 20.5714 weeks due to a prior back claim with the Employer. This matter has been appealed, briefed and heard by the Appellate Panel on two separate occasions. It was then appealed, briefed and argued before the Court of Appeals. The first time this issue was raised was in its Petition for Rehearing to the

³Even if the present award was "through the loss of another member," the Employer's liability is for the subsequent injury only. In the present case, Appellant maintains and the Commissioner found that the subsequent injury caused the Claimant to become totally disabled, so the liability would be for permanent total disability benefits.

Court of Appeals.

Our Court has consistently held: “an issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals, and the court's opinion should be vacated to the extent it addressed an issue that was not preserved. Hendrix v. Eastern Distribution, Inc., 320 S.C. 218, 464 S.E.2d 112 (1995).” “No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *State v. Bray*, 342 S.C. 23, 535 S.E.2d 636 (2000)(it is error for an appellate court to consider issues not raised to it); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001). An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals, and the court's opinion should be vacated to the extent it addressed an issue that was not preserved. *Hendrix v. Eastern Distribution, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 218, 464 S.E.2d 112 (1995).”

In the first order of the Single Commissioner, there were only two stipulations before the Single Commissioner, namely, “(1) No objection to the jurisdiction or venue. (2) The Claimant’s average weekly wage is \$636.04, yielding a compensation rate of \$424.05.” (A. p.4). There is no record of the alleged stipulation by Claimant’s counsel. There is only a reference in the Single Commissioner’s statement of the case about the assertion that the Defendant is entitled to only a credit of 20.5714 weeks due to a prior back claim with the Employer. (A. p.4). This “assertion” is not a stipulation. Nor, is it evidence in the case. In fact, if anything, it was an expression of an alternative position in the event the Commissioner found the Claimant was not entitled to permanent, total disability pursuant to S.C. Code § 42-9-10.

This alleged stipulation was not included in the Commissioner’s Findings of Fact (A. pp. 12-15). Nor was it included as a Conclusion of Law or part of the Commissioner’s Order and Award. (A. p.16-17).

It should be noted that the Single Commissioner’s Remand Order is the subject of this appeal; not the original order. In the Remand Order, the “Statement of the Case” makes no reference, whatsoever, to an alleged “stipulation” by the Claimant as to the entitlement to a credit for a prior award for the back. (A.p. 69). And in the Remand Order of the Single Commissioner under the section entitled “Claimant’s Position Regarding the Credit”, there is no reference to an

under the section entitled “Claimant’s Position Regarding the Credit”, there is no reference to an alleged stipulation as to the prior award for the back. (A.p. 69-70).

Even assuming there was such an assertion that was referenced in the first Order of the Single Commissioner, the second Order of the Single Commissioner superceded the first Order and that is the Order from which this appeal arises. There is no reference whatsoever to an alleged “stipulation” by the Petitioners as to the Respondents’ entitlement to a credit for a prior back claim.

Although the Petitioners claim this “stipulation” was not (and could not be) properly challenged on appeal and is the law of the case; the issue certainly could have been raised in its two appellate briefs filed with the Commission and during its two oral arguments with the Commission. It could have and should have been raised in its brief before the Court of Appeals and could have been raised during oral argument before the Court of Appeals. This issue, which is truly a non-issue based on the Record, was not properly preserved below. Although the Petitioners claims the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law in ignoring this “stipulation,” the Respondent maintains the Court of Appeals did not ignore the stipulation, at all. It could not ignore something not raised or brought to its attention. To the contrary, it was not a stipulation and secondly, it was not brought to the Court’s attention or raised as an issue during the appellate process. The Petitioners’ failure to properly and timely raise this issue below results in a waiver.

II. The Court of Appeals did not err as a matter of law by concluding that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-170 is inapplicable to Lemon’s claim.

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